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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

MARKEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(dollars in thousands)

ASSETS
Investments, available-for-sale, at estimated fair value:
Fixed maturities (amortized cost of $4,424,168 in 2013 and $4,562,278 in 2012)
Equity securities (cost of $1,407,908 in 2013 and $1,387,305 in 2012)
Short-term investments (estimated fair value approximates cost)
Total Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses
Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses
Deferred policy acquisition costs
Prepaid reinsurance premiums
Goodwill and intangible assets
Other assets
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
Unearned premiums
Payables to insurance companies
Senior long-term debt and other debt (estimated fair value of $1,968,000 in 2013 and $1,688,000 in 2012)
Other liabilities
Total Liabilities
Redeemable noncontrolling interests
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

March 31, December 31,
2013 2012
(unaudited)
4,809,825 $ 4,979,283
2,708,449 2,406,951
1,380,318 973,330
8,898,592 8,359,564
899,075 973,181
511,073 413,883
721,813 778,774
52,679 51,145
178,682 157,465
114,175 110,332
1,074,925 1,049,225
666,977 663,019
13,117,991 $ 12,556,588
5,286,068 $ 5,371,426
1,094,312 1,000,261
134,405 103,212
1,732,250 1,492,550
640,034 613,897
8,887,069 8,581,346
74,501 86,225
911,330 908,980
2,160,060 2,068,340
1,080,119 911,337
4,151,509 3,888,657
4,912 360
4,156,421 3,889,017
13,117,991 § 12,556,588
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MARKEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2013 2012
(dollars in thousands,
except per share data)

OPERATING REVENUES
Earned premiums $ 564,587 $ 529,596
Net investment income 64,617 79,794
Net realized investment gains 17,917 11,909
Other revenues 172,743 111,836

Total Operating Revenues 819,864 733,135
OPERATING EXPENSES
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 287,896 288,521
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses 228,673 238,697
Amortization of intangible assets 9,615 8,804
Other expenses 152,317 100,404

Total Operating Expenses 678,501 636,426

Operating Income 141,363 96,709
Interest expense 23,574 22,167

Income Before Income Taxes 117,789 74,542
Income tax expense 28,526 16,829

Net Income 89,263 57,713
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 361 460

Net Income to Shareholders $ 88,902 $ 57,253
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Change in net unrealized gains on investments, net of taxes:

Net holding gains arising during the period $ 181,599 § 153,455

Change in unrealized other-than-temporary impairment losses on fixed maturities arising during the period 249 (138)

Reclassification adjustments for net gains included in net income (12,255) (7,931)

Change in net unrealized gains on investments, net of taxes 169,593 145,386
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments, net of taxes (1,181) 2,823
Change in net actuarial pension loss, net of taxes 370 483

Total Other Comprehensive Income 168,782 148,692

Comprehensive Income 258,045 206,405
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 361 460

Comprehensive Income to Shareholders $ 257,684 $ 205,945
NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic $ 953 § 5.94

Diluted $ 9.50 $ 5.92

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

MARKEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Unaudited)

Accumulated

Other Total Redeemable
Common Retained Comprehensive Shareholders’ Noncontrolling Noncontrolling
(dollars in thousands) Stock Earnings Income Equity Interests Total Equity Interests
December 31, 2011 $ 891,507 § 1,835,086 § 660,920 §$ 3,387,513 § 602 § 3,388,115 § 74,231
Net income (loss) 57,253 — 57,253 (321) 56,932 781
Other comprehensive income — 148,692 148,692 — 148,692 —
Comprehensive Income
(Loss) 205,945 (321) 205,624 781
Issuance of common stock 8,274 — — 8,274 — 8,274 —
Repurchase of common
stock — (2,299) — (2,299) — (2,299) —
Restricted stock units
expensed 2,366 — 2,366 — 2,366 —
Other 294 — — 294 — 294 (1,418)
March 31, 2012 $ 902,441 $ 1,890,040 § 809,612 § 3,602,093 $ 281 $ 3,602,374 $ 73,594
December 31, 2012 $ 908,980 $ 2,068,340 § 911,337 §$ 3,888,657 $ 360 $ 3,889,017 $ 86,225
Net income (loss) 88,902 — 88,902 (448) 88,454 809
Other comprehensive income — 168,782 168,782 — 168,782 —
Comprehensive Income
(Loss) 257,684 (448) 257,236 809
Issuance of common stock 19 — — 19 — 19 —
Restricted stock units
expensed 2,583 — — 2,583 — 2,583 —
Adjustment of redeemable
noncontrolling interests — 2,886 — 2,886 — 2,886 (2,886)
Purchase of noncontrolling
interest (283) — — (283) — (283) (8,157)
Other 31 (68) — 37) 5,000 4,963 (1,490)
March 31, 2013 $ 911,330 $§ 2,160,060 $ 1,080,119 $ 4,151,509 $ 4912 $ 4,156,421 § 74,501

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MARKEL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013

2012

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Net Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities and equity securities
Proceeds from maturities, calls and prepayments of fixed maturities
Cost of fixed maturities and equity securities purchased
Net change in short-term investments
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Additions to property and equipment
Other
Net Cash Used By Investing Activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Additions to senior long-term debt and other debt
Repayments of senior long-term debt and other debt
Repurchases of common stock
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Purchase of redeemable noncontrolling interests
Other
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities
Effect of foreign currency rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

(dollars in thousands)

$ 89,263 $ 57,713
(33,709) (122,105)
55,554 (64,392)
52,834 69,063
120,711 119,291
(62,775) (205,926)
(410,662) 79,233
(36,531) (80,870)
(14,442) (12,917)
(2,438) 1,476
(353,303) (30,650)
507,969 32,317
(268,522) (27,868)
(169) (2,299)
(2,032) (1,615)
(8,440) —
2,383 8,568
231,189 9,103
(7,546) 2,704
(74,106) (83,235)
973,181 775,032
$ 899,075 $ 691,797
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Basis of Presentation

Markel Corporation is a diverse financial holding company serving a variety of niche markets. Markel Corporation’s principal business markets and
underwrites specialty insurance products and programs. Markel Corporation also owns interests in various industrial and service businesses that operate
outside of the specialty insurance marketplace.

The consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2013 and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for fair presentation
of such consolidated financial statements have been included. Such adjustments consist only of normal, recurring items. Interim results are not necessarily
indicative of results of operations for the entire year. The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012 was derived from Markel Corporation’s audited
annual consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) and
include the accounts of Markel Corporation and its subsidiaries (the Company). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated
in consolidation. The Company consolidates the results of its non-insurance subsidiaries on a one-month lag. Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ materially from the
estimates and assumptions used in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements and notes are presented as permitted by Form 10-Q and do not contain certain information included in the Company’s
annual consolidated financial statements and notes. Readers are urged to review the Company’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more complete
description of the Company’s business and accounting policies.

ParkLand Ventures, Inc. (ParkLand), a subsidiary of the Company, has formed subsidiaries for the purpose of acquiring and financing real estate (the real
estate subsidiaries). The assets of the real estate subsidiaries, which are not material to the Company, are consolidated in accordance with U.S. GAAP but are
not available to satisfy the debt and other obligations of the Company or any affiliates other than the real estate subsidiaries.

2. Net Income per Share

Net income per share was determined by dividing adjusted net income to sh areholders by the applicable weighted average shares outstanding.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2013 2012

Net income to shareholders $ 88,902 $ 57,253
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interests 2,886 —
Adjusted net income to shareholders $ 91,788 $ 57,253
Basic common shares outstanding 9,636 9,642
Dilutive potential common shares 30 29
Diluted shares outstanding 9,666 9,671
Basic net income per share $ 953 §$ 5.94
Diluted net income per share $ 950 $ 5.92
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3. Reinsurance

The following table summarizes the effect of reinsurance on premiums written and earned.

(dollars in thousands)

Direct
Assumed
Ceded
Net premiums

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
Written Earned Written Earned
$ 597,419 $ 538,142 $ 518,540 $ 509,589
145,881 102,127 130,078 83,842
(80,312) (75,682) (67,452) (63,835)
$ 662,988 $ 564,587 $ 581,166 §$ 529,596

Incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2012 were net of reinsurance recoverables (ceded incurred losses and loss

adjustment expenses) of $40.1 million.

4. Investments

a) The following tables summarize the Company’s available-for-sale investments.

(dollars in thousands)

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
government agencies

Obligations of states, municipalities and political
subdivisions

Foreign governments
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate bonds
Total fixed maturities
Equity securities:
Insurance companies, banks and trusts
Industrial, consumer and all other
Total equity securities
Short-term investments
Investments, available-for-sale

March 31, 2013

Unrealized
Gross Gross Other-Than-
Unrealized Unrealized Temporary Estimated
Amortized Holding Holding Impairment Fair

Cost Gains Losses Losses Value
302,194 $ 17,591 $ @ s — 8 319,784
2,540,488 228,229 (378) — 2,768,339
484,674 48,925 — — 533,599
174,678 13,054 Q) (2,258) 185,472
12,916 413 — — 13,329
909,218 86,583 — (6,499) 989,302
4,424,168 394,795 (381) (8,757) 4,809,825
410,482 497,053 — — 907,535
997,426 805,230 (1,742) — 1,800,914
1,407,908 1,302,283 (1,742) — 2,708,449
1,380,301 23 ©) — 1,380,318
7,212,377 $ 1,697,101 $ 2,129) $ @8,757) $ 8,898,592
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(dollars in thousands)

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S.
government agencies

Obligations of states, municipalities and political
subdivisions

Foreign governments
Residential mortgage-backed securities
Asset-backed securities
Corporate bonds
Total fixed maturities
Equity securities:
Insurance companies, banks and trusts
Industrial, consumer and all other
Total equity securities
Short-term investments
Investments, available-for-sale

December 31, 2012

Unrealized
Gross Gross Other-Than-
Unrealized Unrealized Temporary Estimated
Amortized Holding Holding Impairment Fair
Cost Gains Losses Losses Value
$ 297,663 § 19,844  § — 8§ — 8 317,507
2,586,867 245,057 (362) — 2,831,562
503,844 52,764 — — 556,608
202,644 14,996 ) (2,258) 215,377
13,828 517 — — 14,345
957,432 93,395 (121) (6,822) 1,043,884
4,562,278 426,573 (488) (9,080) 4,979,283
508,771 389,434 (138) — 898,067
878,534 637,783 (7,433) — 1,508,884
1,387,305 1,027,217 (7,571) — 2,406,951
973,318 26 (14) — 973,330
$ 6,922,901 $ 1453816 $ 8,073) $ (9,080) $ 8,359,564

b) The following tables summarize gross unrealized investment losses by the length of time that securities have continuously been in an unrealized loss

position.
March 31, 2013
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Holding and Holding and Holding and
Other-Than- Other-Than- Other-Than-
Estimated Temporary Estimated Temporary Estimated Temporary
Fair Impairment Fair Impairment Fair Impairment
(dollars in thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury securities and
obligations of U.S. government agencies $ 4930 $ @ S — 3 — S 4,930 )
Obligations of states, municipalities
and political subdivisions 1,279 (10) 5,526 (368) 6,805 378)
Residential mortgage-backed securities — (2,258) 194 Q) 194 (2,260)
Corporate bonds — (6,499) — — — (6,499)
Total fixed maturities 6,209 (8,768) 5,720 (370) 11,929 (9,138)
Equity securities:
Industrial, consumer and all other 42,833 (1,718) 74 24) 42,907 (1,742)
Total equity securities 42,833 (1,718) 74 (24) 42,907 (1,742)
Short-term investments 116,865 (6) — — 116,865 6)
Total $ 165,907 $ (10,492) $ 5794 $ 39%4) $ 171,701 (10,886)
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At March 31, 2013, the Company held 32 securities with a total estimated fair value of $171.7 million and gross unrealized losses of $10.9 million. Of these
32 securities, 12 securities had been in a continuous unrealized loss position for one year or longer and had a total estimated fair value of $5.8 million and
gross unrealized losses of $0.4 million. Of these securities, 11 securities were fixed maturities and one was an equity security. The Company does not intend to
sell or believe it will be required to sell these fixed maturities before recovery of their amortized cost. The Company has the ability and intent to hold the equity
security for a period of time sufficient to allow for the anticipated recovery of its fair value.

December 31,2012

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Holding and Holding and Holding and
Other-Than- Other-Than- Other-Than-
Estimated Temporary Estimated Temporary Estimated Temporary
Fair Impairment Fair Impairment Fair Impairment
(dollars in thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Fixed maturities:
Obligations of states, municipalities
and political subdivisions $ 2833 § 46) $ 3,616 $ 316) $ 6,449 §$ (362)
Residential mortgage-backed securities 364 (2,260) 201 3) 565 (2,263)
Corporate bonds — (6,822) 3,860 (121) 3,860 (6,943)
Total fixed maturities 3,197 (9,128) 7,677 (440) 10,874 (9,568)
Equity securities:
Insurance companies, banks and
trusts 2,431 (138) — — 2,431 (138)
Industrial, consumer and all other 82,109 (7,310) 1,983 (123) 84,092 (7,433)
Total equity securities 84,540 (7,448) 1,983 (123) 86,523 (7,571)
Short-term investments 228,820 (14) — — 228,820 (14)
Total 316,557 $  (16,590) $ 9,660 $ (563) $ 326217 $  (17,153)

At December 31, 2012, the Company held 35 securities with a total estimated fair value of $326.2 million and gross unrealized losses of $17.2 million. Of
these 35 securities, 10 securities had been in a continuous unrealized loss position for one year or longer and had a total estimated fair value of $9.7 million
and gross unrealized losses of $0.6 million. Of these securities, eight securities were fixed maturities and two were equity securities.

The Company completes a detailed analysis each quarter to assess whether the decline in the fair value of any investment below its cost basis is deemed other-
than-temporary. All securities with unrealized losses are reviewed. The Company considers many factors in completing its quarterly review of securities with
unrealized losses for other-than-temporary impairment, including the length of time and the extent to which fair value has been below cost and the financial
condition and near-term prospects of the issuer. For equity securities, the ability and intent to hold the security for a period of time sufficient to allow for
anticipated recovery is considered. For fixed maturities, the Company considers whether it intends to sell the security or if it is more likely than not that it will
be required to sell the security before recovery, the implied yield-to-maturity, the credit quality of the issuer and the ability to recover all amounts outstanding
when contractually due.

For equity securities, a decline in fair value that is considered to be other-than-temporary is recognized in net income based on the fair value of the security at
the time of assessment, resulting in a new cost basis for the security. For fixed maturities where the Company intends to sell the security or it is more likely
than not that the Company will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost, a decline in fair value is considered to be other-than-
temporary and is recognized in net income based on the fair value of the security at the time of assessment, resulting in a new cost basis for the security. If the
decline in fair value of a fixed maturity below its amortized cost is considered to be other-than-temporary based upon other considerations, the Company
compares the estimated present value of the cash flows expected to be collected to the amortized cost of the security. The extent to which the estimated present
value of the cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost of the security represents the credit-related portion of the other-than-temporary
impairment, which is recognized in net income, resulting in a new cost basis for the security. Any remaining decline in fair value represents the non-credit
portion of the other-than-temporary impairment, which is recognized in other comprehensive income. The discount rate used to calculate the estimated present
value of the cash flows expected to be collected is the effective interest rate implicit for the security at the date of purchase.
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When assessing whether it intends to sell a fixed maturity or if it is likely to be required to sell a fixed maturity before recovery of its amortized cost, the
Company evaluates facts and circumstances including, but not limited to, decisions to reposition the investment portfolio, potential sales of investments to
meet cash flow needs and potential sales of investments to capitalize on favorable pricing. Additional information on the methodology and significant inputs,
by security type, that the Company used to determine the amount of credit loss recognized on fixed maturities with declines in fair value below amortized cost
that were considered to be other-than-temporary is provided below.

Residential mortgage-backed securities. For mortgage-backed securities, credit impairment is assessed by estimating future cash flows from the underlying
mortgage loans and interest payments. The cash flow estimate incorporates actual cash flows from the mortgage-backed securities through the current period
and then projects the remaining cash flows using a number of assumptions, including prepayment rates, default rates, recovery rates on foreclosed properties
and loss severity assumptions. Management develops specific assumptions using market data and internal estimates, as well as estimates from rating agencies
and other third party sources. Default rates are estimated by considering current underlying mortgage loan performance and expectations of future performance.
Estimates of future cash flows are discounted to present value. If the present value of expected cash flows is less than the amortized cost, the Company
recognizes the estimated credit loss in net income.

Corporate bonds. For corporate bonds, credit impairment is assessed by evaluating the underlying issuer. As part of this assessment, the Company analyzes
various factors, including the following:

+ fundamentals of the issuer, including current and projected earnings, current liquidity position and ability to raise capital;

+ fundamentals of the industry in which the issuer operates;

* expectations of defaults and recovery rates;

 changes in ratings by rating agencies;

other relevant market considerations; and

receipt of interest payments.
Default probabilities and recovery rates from rating agencies are key factors used in calculating the credit loss. Additional research of the industry and issuer
is completed to determine if there is any current information that may affect the fixed maturity or its issuer in a negative manner and require an adjustment to

the cash flow assumptions.

¢) The amortized cost and estimated fair value of fixed maturities at March 31, 2013 are shown below by contractual maturity.

Amortized Estimated

(dollars in thousands) Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 323583 $ 328,259
Due after one year through five years 1,188,860 1,293,172
Due after five years through ten years 1,506,235 1,647,735
Due after ten years 1,217,896 1,341,858
4,236,574 4,611,024
Residential mortgage-backed securities 174,678 185,472
Asset-backed securities 12,916 13,329
Total fixed maturities $ 4,424,168 $ 4,809,825

d) Atboth March 31,2013 and 2012, cumulative credit losses recognized in net income on fixed maturities where other-than-temporary impairment was
identified and a portion of the other-than-temporary impairment was included in other comprehensive income was $21,370. There were no changes in
cumulative credit losses for the three months ended March 31, 2013 or 2012.

11
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e) The following table presents net realized investment gains and the change in net unrealized gains on investments.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Realized gains:
Sales of fixed maturities $ 287 $ 1,859
Sales of equity securities 17,921 9,694
Other — 521
Total realized gains 18,208 12,074
Realized losses:
Sales of fixed maturities (138) (165)
Sales of equity securities (153) —
Total realized losses (291) (165)
Net realized investment gains $ 17,917 § 11,909
Change in net unrealized gains on investments:
Fixed maturities $ (31,348) $ 16,669
Equity securities 280,895 196,994
Short-term investments 5 ()
Net increase $ 249552 $ 213,660

f) There were no writedowns for other-than-temporary declines in the estimated fair value of investments for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and
2012.

5. Senior Long-Term Debt
On February 15, 2013, the Company repaid its 6.80% unsecured senior notes ($246.7 million principal amount outstanding at December 31, 2012).

On March 8, 2013, the Company issued $250 million of 3.625% unsecured senior notes due March 30, 2023 and $250 million of 5.0% unsecured senior
notes due March 30, 2043. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $491.2 million, which will be used for general corporate purposes.

6. Segment Reporting Disclosures

The Company operates in three segments of the specialty insurance marketplace: the Excess and Surplus Lines, the Specialty Admitted and the London
Insurance Market segments. The Company considers many factors, including the nature of its insurance products, production sources, distribution strategies
and regulatory environment in determining how to aggregate operating segments.

All investing activities related to our insurance operations are included in the Investing segment. For purposes of segment reporting, the Other Insurance
(Discontinued Lines) segment includes lines of business that have been discontinued in conjunction with acquisitions. The Company’s non-insurance
operations primarily consist of controlling interests in various industrial and service businesses. For purposes of segment reporting, the Company’s non-
insurance operations are not considered to be a reportable operating segment.

Segment profit or loss for each of the Company’s operating segments is measured by underwriting profit or loss. The property and casualty insurance
industry commonly defines underwriting profit or loss as earned premiums net of losses and loss adjustment expenses and underwriting, acquisition and
insurance expenses. Underwriting profit or loss does not replace operating income or net income computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP as a measure of
profitability. Underwriting profit or loss provides a basis for management to evaluate the Company’s underwriting performance. Segment profit for the
Investing segment is measured by net investment income and net realized investment gains or losses.

12
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For management reporting purposes, the Company allocates assets to its underwriting, investing and non-insurance operations. Underwriting assets are all
assets not specifically allocated to the Investing segment or to the Company’s non-insurance operations. Underwriting assets are not allocated to the Excess and
Surplus Lines, Specialty Admitted, London Insurance Market or Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) segments since the Company does not manage its
assets by operating segment. Invested assets related to our insurance operations are allocated to the Investing segment since these assets are available for
payment of losses and expenses for all operating segments. The Company does not allocate capital expenditures for long-lived assets to any of its operating

segments for management reporting purposes.

a) The following tables summarize the Company’s segment disclosures.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

Other
Excess and London Insurance
Surplus Specialty Insurance (Discontinued

(dollars in thousands) Lines Admitted Market Lines) Investing Consolidated
Gross premium volume $ 244306 $ 203,276 $ 295,697 21 $ — $ 743,300
Net written premiums 209,842 193,082 260,043 21 — 662,988
Earned premiums 201,405 158,469 204,692 21 — 564,587
Losses and loss adjustment expenses:

Current accident year (126,138) (105,125) (134,736) — — (365,999)

Prior accident years 53,908 1,655 22,123 417 — 78,103
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses (83,761) (68,527) (76,473) 88 — (228,673)

Underwriting profit (loss) 45,414 (13,528) 15,606 526 — 48,018
Net investment income — — — — 64,617 64,617
Net realized investment gains — — — — 17,917 17,917
Other revenues (insurance) — 7,263 3,962 — — 11,225
Other expenses (insurance) — (6,197) (1,358) — — (7,555)
Segment profit (loss) $ 45,414 $ (12,462) $ 18,210 526 $ 825534 § 134,222

Other revenues (non-insurance) 161,518
Other expenses (non-insurance) (144,762)
Amortization of intangible assets 9,615)
Interest expense (23,574)
Income before income taxes $ 117,789
U.S. GAAP combined ratio 77% 109% 92% NM o 91%

(1 The U.S. GAAP combined ratio is a measure of underwriting performance and represents the relationship of incurred losses, loss adjustment expenses and underwriting, acquisition

and insurance expenses to earned premiums.
(2 NM — Ratio is not meaningful.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Other
Excess and London Insurance
Surplus Specialty Insurance (Discontinued

(dollars in thousands) Lines Admitted Market Lines) Investing Consolidated
Gross premium volume $ 222,929 148,122  $ 277,566 $ 1 $ — $ 648,618
Net written premiums 192,913 140,552 247,700 1 — 581,166
Earned premiums 199,378 133,475 196,742 1 — 529,596
Losses and loss adjustment expenses:

Current accident year (128,067) (92,693) (131,746) — — (352,506)

Prior accident years 30,587 4,326 21,465 7,607 — 63,985
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses:

Prospective adoption of ASU 2010-26 ™ (8,487) (5,764) (6,037) — — (20,288)

All other expenses (85,857) (57,266) (75,003) (283) — (218,409)

Underwriting profit (loss) 7,554 (17,922) 5,421 7,325 — 2,378
Net investment income — — — — 79,794 79,794
Net realized investment gains — — — — 11,909 11,909
Other revenues (insurance) — 10,448 4,383 — — 14,831
Other expenses (insurance) — (11,201) (974) — — (12,175)
Segment profit (loss) $ 7,554 (18,675) $ 8,830 3 7,325 $ 91,703 $ 96,737

Other revenues (non-insurance) 97,005
Other expenses (non-insurance) (88,229)
Amortization of intangible assets (8,804)
Interest expense (22,167)
Income before income taxes $ 74,542
U.S. GAAP combined ratio @ 9 6% 113% 97% NM & 100%

() Effective January 1, 2012, the Company prospectively adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-26, Accounting for
Costs Associated with Acquiring or Renewing Insurance Contracts . At December 31, 2011, deferred policy acquisition costs included $43.1 million of costs that no longer met the

criteria for deferral as of January 1, 2012 and were recognized into income during 2012, consistent with policy terms.

() The U.S. GAAP combined ratio is a measure of underwriting performance and represents the relationship of incurred losses, loss adjustment expenses and underwriting, acquisition

and insurance expenses to earned premiums.
() NM — Ratio is not meaningful.

b) The following table reconciles segment assets to the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

(dollars in thousands)
Segment assets:

Investing
Underwriting

Total segment assets
Non-insurance operations

Total assets

7. Derivatives

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
$ 9,749,682 $ 9,277,697
2,500,635 2,387,305
12,250,317 11,665,002
867,674 891,586
$ 13,117,991 § 12,556,588

The Company is a party to a credit default swap agreement, under which third party credit risk is transferred from a counterparty to the Company. The
Company entered into the credit default swap agreement for investment purposes. At both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the notional amount of the
credit default swap was $33.1 million, which represented the Company’s aggregate exposure to losses if specified credit events involving third party reference
entities occur. These third party reference entities are specified under the terms of the agreement and represent a portfolio of names upon which the Company
has assumed credit risk from the counterparty. The Company’s exposure to loss from any one reference entity is limited to $20.0 million. The credit default

swap has a scheduled termination date of December 2014.
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The credit default swap is accounted for as a derivative instrument and is recorded at fair value with any changes in fair value recorded in net investment
income. At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the credit default swap had a fair value of $9.4 million and $12.7 million, respectively. The fair value
of the credit default swap is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. Net investment income for the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012 included favorable changes in the fair value of the credit default swap of $3.3 million and $11.1 million, respectively.

The fair value of the credit default swap is determined by the Company using a Gaussian copula valuation model, a market standard model for valuing credit
default swaps. The fair value is dependent upon several inputs, including changes in interest rates, credit spreads, expected default rates, changes in credit
quality, future expected recovery rates and other market factors. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the credit default
swap are expected default rates and future expected recovery rates. The Company determines these unobservable inputs based upon default rates and recovery
rates used to price similar credit default swap indices. A significant increase in expected default rates in isolation results in a significantly higher fair value
measurement, while a significant decrease in expected default rates results in a significantly lower fair value measurement. A significant increase in future
expected recovery rates in isolation results in a significantly lower fair value measurement, while a significant decrease in future expected recovery rates results
in a significantly higher fair value measurement. Generally, a change in the assumption used for expected default rates is accompanied by a directionally
opposite change in future expected recovery rates. The fair value measurement of the credit default swap at March 31, 2013 included expected default rates
ranging between less than 1% and 37%, with a weighted-average expected default rate of 2%, and future expected recovery rates ranging between 20% and 40%,
with a weighted-average future expected recovery rate of 39%. The fair value measurement of the credit default swap at December 31, 2012 included expected
default rates ranging between 1% and 43%, with a weighted-average expected default rate of 3%, and future expected recovery rates ranging between 20% and
40%, with a weighted-average future expected recovery rate of 39%.

The Company's valuation policies and procedures for the credit default swap are determined by an internal investment manager with oversight provided by the
Company's Chief Financial Officer and Chief Investment Officer. Fair value measurements are analyzed quarterly to ensure the change in fair value from prior
periods is reasonable relative to recent market trends. Additionally, the reported fair value of the credit default swap is compared to results from similar
valuation models.

The Company had no other material derivative instruments at March 31, 2013.

8. Employee Benefit Plans

a) Expenses relating to the Company’s defined contribution plans were $4.6 million and $4.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

b) The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit income for the Terra Nova Pension Plan, a defined benefit plan.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Service cost $ — 3 90
Interest cost 1,623 1,693
Expected return on plan assets (2,689) (2,432)
Amortization of net actuarial pension loss 480 643
Net periodic benefit income $ 586) $ (6)

The Company contributed $5.3 million to the Terra Nova Pension Plan during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and does not expect to make any
additional contributions in 2013.

9. Contingencies

Contingencies arise in the normal course of the Company’s operations and are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations.

15



Table of Contents
10. Fair Value Measurements

FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820-10, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, establishes a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). If the inputs used to measure the assets or liabilities fall within different
levels of the hierarchy, the classification is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the asset or liability.

Classification of assets and liabilities within the hierarchy considers the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability and
transparency of the assumptions used to determine fair value. The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The levels of the
hierarchy are defined as follows:

Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities traded in active markets.

Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability and market-corroborated inputs.

Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable for the asset or liability and are significant to the fair value measurement.

In accordance with FASB ASC 820, the Company determines fair value based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In determining fair value, the Company uses various methods, including the
market, income and cost approaches. The Company uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. The following section describes the valuation methodologies used by the Company to measure assets and liabilities at fair value,
including an indication of the level within the fair value hierarchy in which each asset or liability is generally classified.

Investments available-for-sale. Investments available-for-sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis and include fixed maturities, equity securities
and short-term investments. Short-term investments include certificates of deposit, commercial paper, discount notes and treasury bills with original
maturities of one year or less. Fair value for investments available-for-sale is determined by the Company after considering various sources of information,
including information provided by a third party pricing service. The pricing service provides prices for substantially all of the Company’s fixed maturities
and equity securities. In determining fair value, the Company generally does not adjust the prices obtained from the pricing service. The Company obtains an
understanding of the pricing service’s valuation methodologies and related inputs, which include, but are not limited to, reported trades, benchmark yields,
issuer spreads, bids, offers, duration, credit ratings, estimated cash flows and prepayment speeds. The Company validates prices provided by the pricing
service by reviewing prices from other pricing sources and analyzing pricing data in certain instances.

The Company has evaluated the various types of securities in its investment portfolio to determine an appropriate fair value hierarchy level based upon trading
activity and the observability of market inputs. Level 1 investments include those traded on an active exchange, such as the New York Stock Exchange. Level
2 investments include U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies, municipal bonds, foreign government bonds, residential
mortgage-backed securities and corporate debt securities.

Fair value for investments available-for-sale is measured based upon quoted prices in active markets, if available. Due to variations in trading volumes and the
lack of quoted market prices, fixed maturities are classified as Level 2 investments. The fair value of fixed maturities is normally derived through recent
reported trades for identical or similar securities, making adjustments through the reporting date based upon available market observable data described above.
If there are no recent reported trades, the fair value of fixed maturities may be derived through the use of matrix pricing or model processes, where future cash
flow expectations are developed based upon collateral performance and discounted at an estimated market rate. Significant inputs used to determine the fair
value of obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions, corporate bonds and obligations of foreign governments include reported trades,
benchmark yields, issuer spreads, bids, offers, credit information and estimated cash flows. Significant inputs used to determine the fair value of residential
mortgage-backed securities include the type of underlying mortgage loans, benchmark yields, prepayment speeds, collateral information, tranche type and
volatility, estimated cash flows, credit information, default rates, recovery rates, issuer spreads and the year of issue.

16



Table of Contents

Derivatives. Derivatives are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis and include a credit default swap. The fair value of the credit default swap is measured
by the Company using an external valuation model. See note 7 for a discussion of the valuation model for the credit default swap, including the key inputs

and assumptions used in the model and a description of the valuation processes used by the Company. Due to the significance of unobservable inputs required
in measuring the fair value of the credit default swap, the credit default swap has been classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.

Senior long-term debt and other debt. Senior long-term debt and other debt is carried at amortized cost with the estimated fair value disclosed on the
consolidated balance sheets. Senior long-term debt and other debt is classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy due to variations in trading volumes
and the lack of quoted market prices. Fair value for senior long-term debt and other debt is generally derived through recent reported trades for identical
securities, making adjustments through the reporting date, if necessary, based upon available market observable data including U.S. Treasury securities and
implied credit spreads. Significant inputs used to determine the fair value of senior long-term debt and other debt include reported trades, benchmark yields,
issuer spreads, bids and offers.

The following tables present the balances of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy.

March 31, 2013
(dollars in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Investments available-for-sale:
Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government
agencies $ — 3 319,784 $ — 319,784
Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions — 2,768,339 — 2,768,339
Foreign governments — 533,599 — 533,599
Residential mortgage-backed securities — 185,472 — 185,472
Asset-backed securities — 13,329 — 13,329
Corporate bonds — 989,302 — 989,302
Total fixed maturities — 4,809,825 — 4,809,825
Equity securities:
Insurance companies, banks and trusts 907,535 — — 907,535
Industrial, consumer and all other 1,800,914 — — 1,800,914
Total equity securities 2,708,449 — — 2,708,449
Short-term investments 1,314,844 65,474 — 1,380,318
Total investments available-for-sale $ 4,023,293 § 4,875,299 $ — 3 8,898,592
Liabilities:
Derivative contracts $ — ) 9,400 $ 9,400
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December 31, 2012

(dollars in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Investments available-for-sale:
Fixed maturities:
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government

agencies $ — 3 317,507 $ — 3 317,507
Obligations of states, municipalities and political subdivisions — 2,831,562 — 2,831,562
Foreign governments — 556,608 — 556,608
Residential mortgage-backed securities — 215,377 — 215,377
Asset-backed securities — 14,345 — 14,345
Corporate bonds — 1,043,884 — 1,043,884
Total fixed maturities — 4,979,283 — 4,979,283
Equity securities:
Insurance companies, banks and trusts 898,067 — — 898,067
Industrial, consumer and all other 1,508,884 — — 1,508,884
Total equity securities 2,406,951 — — 2,406,951
Short-term investments 888,758 84,572 — 973,330
Total investments available-for-sale $ 3,295,709 $ 5,063,855 § — 3 8,359,564
Liabilities:
Derivative contracts $ — 3 — 3 12,690 $ 12,690

The following table summarizes changes in Level 3 liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Derivatives, beginning of period $ 12,690 $ 29,331
Total gains included in:
Net income (3,290) (11,061)

Other comprehensive income — —
Transfers into Level 3 — —
Transfers out of Level 3 — —

Derivatives, end of period $ 9,400 $ 18,270

Net unrealized gains included in net income relating to liabilities held at March 31, 2013 and 2012 ® $ 3290 $ 11,061

(1) Included in net investment income in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1 and Level 2 during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company did not have any assets or
liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.

11. Other Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income includes net holding gains arising during the period, changes in unrealized other-than-temporary impairment losses on fixed

maturities arising during the period and reclassification adjustments for net gains included in net income. Other comprehensive income also includes changes
in foreign currency translation adjustments and changes in net actuarial pension loss.
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The following table presents the change in accumulated other comprehensive income by component, net of taxes, for the quarters ended March 31, 2013 and
2012.

Unrealized Holding

Gains on Available- Net Actuarial Pension
(dollars in thousands) for-Sale Securities Foreign Currency Loss Total
December 31, 2011 $ 704,719 S (2,614) $ (41,185) $ 660,920
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 153,317 2,823 — 156,140
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (7,931) — 483 (7,448)
Total other comprehensive income 145,386 2,823 483 148,692
March 31, 2012 $ 850,105 $ 209 $ (40,702) $ 809,612
December 31, 2012 $ 946,933 $ (1,075) $ (34,521) $ 911,337
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 181,848 (1,181) — 180,667
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (12,255) — 370 (11,885)
Total other comprehensive income 169,593 (1,181) 370 168,782
March 31, 2013 $ 1,116,526 $ (2,256) $ (34,151) $ 1,080,119

The following table summarizes the deferred tax expense (benefit) associated with each component of other comprehensive income.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Change in net unrealized gains on investments:
Net holding gains arising during the period $ 85,546 § 71,777
Change in unrealized other-than-temporary impairment losses on fixed maturities arising during the period 75 (46)
Reclassification adjustments for net gains included in net income (5,662) (3,457)
Change in net unrealized gains on investments 79,959 68,274
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments 38 (170)
Change in net actuarial pension loss 110 160
Total $ 80,107 § 68,264

The following table presents the details of amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into income, by component.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities:
Net realized investment gains $ 17917 §$ 11,388
Income taxes (5,662) (3,457)
Reclassification of unrealized holding gains, net of taxes $ 12255  § 7,931

Net actuarial pension loss:

Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses $ 480) $ (643)
Income taxes 110 160
Reclassification of net actuarial pension loss, net of taxes $ 370) $ (483)
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12. Acquisitions

On January 1, 2013, the Company completed its acquisition of 100% of the outstanding shares of Essentia Insurance Company, a company that underwrites
insurance exclusively for Hagerty Insurance Agency and Hagerty Classic Marine Insurance Agency (collectively, Hagerty) throughout the United States.
Hagerty offers insurance for classic cars, vintage boats, motorcycles and related automotive collectibles. The Company recognized intangible assets of $35.4
million associated with this acquisition, which includes $25.0 million of customer relationships to be amortized over a weighted average period of six years.
Results attributable to this acquisition are included in the Specialty Admitted segment.

On December 18, 2012, the boards of directors of the Company and Alterra Capital Holdings Limited (Alterra) each approved an agreement providing for the
merger of Alterra with one of the Company's subsidiaries. As a result of the transaction, Alterra will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
each issued and outstanding share of Alterra common stock (other than restricted shares that do not vest in connection with the transaction) will be converted
into the right to receive (1) 0.04315 shares of the Company's common stock and (2) $10.00 in cash. Based on the Company's closing stock price on December
18,2012 ($486.05 per share), the day the agreement was entered into, the aggregate consideration payable to Alterra shareholders would be approximately $3.1
billion. Following the transaction, the Company estimates that its current shareholders would own approximately 69% of the combined company and Alterra
shareholders would own approximately 31%. The transaction has been approved by shareholders of both companies. Closing is expected to occur on May 1,
2013.

13. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2013, the Company adopted FASB ASU No. 2013-02, Reporting Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income, which amends FASB ASC 220, Comprehensive Income, to improve the reporting of reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive
income. ASU No. 2013-02 requires information about reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income to be reported in one place, by
component. The guidance also requires disclosure of the effect of significant reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income on the respective
line items in net income if the amount being reclassified is required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified in its entirety to net income. For other amounts that are
not required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to cross-reference to other disclosures required under U.S. GAAP that provide
additional detail about those amounts. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash
flows. The Company has included the additional disclosures required by ASU No. 2013-02 in note 11.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of Markel Corporation and its subsidiaries.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Critical accounting estimates are those estimates that both are important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require us to
exercise significant judgment. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of material contingent assets and liabilities, including litigation
contingencies. These estimates, by necessity, are based on assumptions about numerous factors.

We review our critical accounting estimates and assumptions quarterly. These reviews include evaluating the adequacy of reserves for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses, the reinsurance allowance for doubtful accounts and income tax liabilities, as well as analyzing the recoverability of deferred tax assets,
assessing goodwill and intangible assets for impairment and evaluating the investment portfolio for other-than-temporary declines in estimated fair value.
Actual results may differ materially from the estimates and assumptions used in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Readers are urged to review our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a more complete description of our critical accounting estimates.

Our Business

We are a diverse financial holding company serving a variety of niche markets. Our principal business markets and underwrites specialty insurance
products. We believe that our specialty product focus and niche market strategy enable us to develop expertise and specialized market knowledge. We seek to
differentiate ourselves from competitors by our expertise, service, continuity and other value-based considerations. We compete in three segments of the
specialty insurance marketplace: the Excess and Surplus Lines, the Specialty Admitted and the London Insurance Market segments. We also own interests in
various industrial and service businesses that operate outside of the specialty insurance marketplace. Our financial goals are to earn consistent underwriting
and operating profits and superior investment returns to build shareholder value.

Our Excess and Surplus Lines segment writes hard-to-place risks outside of the standard market, including catastrophe-exposed property, professional
liability, products liability, general liability, commercial umbrella and other coverages tailored for unique exposures. Our Excess and Surplus Lines segment is
comprised of five regions, and each regional office is responsible for serving the wholesale producers located in its region. Our regional teams focus on
customer service and marketing, underwriting and distributing our insurance solutions and provide customers easy access to our products.

Our Specialty Admitted segment writes risks that, although unique and hard-to-place in the standard market, must remain with an admitted insurance
company for marketing and regulatory reasons. Our underwriting units in this segment write specialty program insurance for well-defined niche markets,
personal and commercial property and liability coverages and workers' compensation insurance. Our Specialty Admitted segment is comprised of three
underwriting units: Markel Specialty, Markel American Specialty Personal and Commercial Lines and Markel FirstComp. In January 2012, we acquired
Thompson Insurance Enterprises, LLC (Thomco), a privately held program administrator that underwrites multi-line, industry-focused insurance programs
that complement the Markel Specialty product offerings. Examples include social service organizations, senior living, childcare and fitness centers. In January
2013, we acquired Essentia Insurance Company, a company that underwrites insurance exclusively for Hagerty Insurance Agency and Hagerty Classic

Marine Insurance Agency (collectively, Hagerty) throughout the United States. Hagerty offers insurance for classic cars, vintage boats, motorcycles and related
automotive collectibles. Premiums associated with Hagerty for 2012 were in excess of $180 million. Results attributable to these acquisitions are included in
the Specialty Admitted segment.

Our London Insurance Market segment writes specialty property, casualty, professional liability, equine, marine, energy and trade credit insurance and
reinsurance on a worldwide basis. We participate in the London market through Markel International, which includes Markel Capital Limited and Markel
International Insurance Company Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries. Markel Capital Limited is the corporate capital provider for Markel Syndicate 3000 at
Lloyd's, which is managed by Markel Syndicate Management Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary.
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For purposes of segment reporting, the Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) segment includes lines of business that have been discontinued in conjunction
with acquisitions. This segment also includes development on asbestos and environmental loss reserves.

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary Markel Ventures, Inc., we own interests in various industrial and service businesses that operate outside of the
specialty insurance marketplace. These businesses are viewed by management as separate and distinct from our insurance operations and are comprised of a
diverse portfolio of companies from different industries, including manufacturing, health care and business and financial services. Local management teams
oversee the day-to-day operations of these companies, while strategic decisions are made in conjunction with members of our executive management team,
principally our President and Chief Investment Officer. The financial results of those companies in which we own controlling interests have been consolidated
in our financial statements. The financial results of those companies in which we hold a noncontrolling interest are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.

Our strategy in making these private equity investments is similar to our strategy for purchasing equity securities. We seek to invest in profitable companies,
with honest and talented management, that exhibit reinvestment opportunities and capital discipline, at reasonable prices. We intend to own the businesses
acquired for a long period of time.

Key Performance Indicators

We measure financial success by our ability to compound growth in book value per share at a high rate of return over a long period of time. To mitigate the
effects of short-term volatility, we measure ourselves over a five-year period. We believe that growth in book value per share is the most comprehensive measure
of our success because it includes all underwriting and investing results. We measure underwriting results by our underwriting profit or loss and combined
ratio. We measure investing results by our total investment return. These measures are discussed in greater detail under “Results of Operations.”

Results of Operations

The following table presents the components of net income to shareholders.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Underwriting profit $ 48,018 § 2,378
Net investment income 64,617 79,794
Net realized investment gains 17,917 11,909
Other revenues 172,743 111,836
Amortization of intangible assets 9,615) (8,804)
Other expenses (152,317) (100,404)
Interest expense (23,574) (22,167)
Income tax expense (28,526) (16,829)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (361) (460)
Net income to shareholders $ 88,902 $ 57,253

Net income to shareholders for the three months ended March 31, 2013 increased primarily due to improved underwriting results compared to the same period
of 2012. The components of net income to shareholders are discussed in further detail under “Underwriting Results,” “Investing Results,” “Non-Insurance
Operations” and “Interest Expense and Income Taxes.”

Underwriting Results

Underwriting profits are a key component of our strategy to grow book value per share. We believe that the ability to achieve consistent underwriting profits
demonstrates knowledge and expertise, commitment to superior customer service and the ability to manage insurance risk. The property and casualty
insurance industry commonly defines underwriting profit or loss as earned premiums net of losses and loss adjustment expenses and underwriting,
acquisition and insurance expenses. We use underwriting profit or loss as a basis for evaluating our underwriting performance.
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The following table presents selected data from our underwriting operations.

Three Months Ended March 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012

Gross premium volume $ 743,300 $ 648,618
Net written premiums $ 662,988 $ 581,166
Net retention 89% 90%
Earned premiums $ 564,587 $ 529,596
Losses and loss adjustment expenses $ 287,896 $ 288,521
Underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses $ 228,673 $ 238,697 O
Underwriting profit $ 48,018 $ 2,378
U.S. GAAP Combined Ratios @
Excess and Surplus Lines 77% 9 6%
Specialty Admitted 109% 113%
London Insurance Market 92% 97%
Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) NM o NM &
Markel Corporation (Consolidated) 91% 100%

() Effective January 1, 2012, we prospectively adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-26, Accounting for Costs Associated
with Acquiring or Renewing Insurance Contracts . At December 31, 2011, deferred policy acquisition costs included $43.1 million of costs that no longer met the criteria for deferral
as of January 1, 2012 and were recognized into income during 2012, consistent with policy terms ($20.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012).

@ The U.S. GAAP combined ratio is a measure of underwriting performance and represents the relationship of incurred losses, loss adjustment expenses and underwriting, acquisition
and insurance expenses to earned premiums. A combined ratio less than 100% indicates an underwriting profit, while a combined ratio greater than 100% reflects an underwriting
loss.

() NM — Ratio is not meaningful.

Our combined ratio was 91% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to 100% for the same period of 2012. The prospective adoption of ASU No.
2010-26 increased our underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses for the first quarter of 2012 by approximately $20.3 million, or four points on the
combined ratio. Excluding the impact of the prospective adoption of ASU No. 2010-26 in the first quarter of 2012, the decrease in the combined ratio in the
first quarter of 2013 was primarily driven by more favorable development of prior years' loss reserves in the Excess and Surplus Lines segment and lower
attritional losses in each of our three operating segments compared to the same period of 2012.

Excess and Surplus Lines Segment

The combined ratio for the Excess and Surplus Lines segment was 77% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to 96% for the same period of 2012.
The combined ratio decreased in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due to more favorable development of prior years' loss reserves and a lower expense ratio.

The Excess and Surplus Lines segment's combined ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 included $53.9 million of favorable development on prior
years' loss reserves compared to $30.6 million of favorable development for the same period of 2012. The redundancies on prior years' loss reserves
experienced during the first quarter of 2013 were primarily on our casualty product lines across several accident years. Additionally, the first quarter of 2013
included $7.4 million of favorable development on Hurricane Sandy. The redundancies on prior years' loss reserves during the first quarter of 2012 were
primarily on our professional and products liability programs.

The improvement in the expense ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was primarily due to the impact of the prospective adoption of ASU No. 2010-26
during the first quarter of 2012, which added approximately $8.5 million of underwriting, acquisition and insurance expenses, or four points to the segment's
first quarter 2012 combined ratio. The expense ratio for the Excess and Surplus Lines segment also improved in the first quarter of 2013 due to lower general
expenses compared to the same period last year.
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Specialty Admitted Segment

The combined ratio for the Specialty Admitted segment was 109% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to 113% for the same period of 2012. The
decrease in the combined ratio was due to a lower current accident year loss ratio and a lower expense ratio, partially offset by less favorable development of
prior years' loss reserves for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to the same period last year.

The lower current accident year loss ratio was primarily due to a higher proportion of non-California workers' compensation business (which carries a lower
loss ratio) being written by our Markel FirstComp unit during the first quarter of 2013 compared to 2012.

The improvement in the expense ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was primarily due to the impact of the prospective adoption of ASU No. 2010-26
during the first quarter of 2012, which added approximately $5.8 million, or four points, to the segment's first quarter 2012 combined ratio.

The Specialty Admitted segment's combined ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 included $1.7 million of favorable development on prior years' loss
reserves compared to $4.3 million of favorable development for the same period of 2012. The favorable development on prior years' loss reserves experienced
within the Specialty Admitted segment during the quarter ended March 31, 2013 included $2.0 million of favorable development on Hurricane Sandy.

London Insurance Market Segment

The combined ratio for the London Insurance Market segment was 92% for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to 97% for the same period of 2012.
The combined ratio decreased in 2013 compared to 2012 due to a lower expense ratio and a lower current accident year loss ratio. The improvement in the
expense ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 was primarily due to the impact of the prospective adoption of ASU No. 2010-26 during the first quarter of
2012, which added approximately $6.0 million, or three points, to the segment's first quarter 2012 combined ratio. The improvement in the current accident
year loss ratio for the London Insurance Market segment was due to lower attritional losses.

The London Insurance Market segment's combined ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 included $22.1 million of favorable development on prior
years' loss reserves compared to $21.5 million of favorable development for the same period of 2012. The favorable development on prior years' loss reserves
in 2013 was on the 2010 accident year and occurred primarily in the Marine, Specialty and Elliott Special Risks divisions. The favorable development on
prior years' loss reserves in 2012 was primarily in the Marine and Specialty divisions on the 2007 through 2009 accident years and also included $3.5
million of favorable development on the 2001 and prior accident years.

Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines)
The Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) segment produced an underwriting profit of $0.5 million and $7.3 million for the three months ended March 31,

2013 and 2012, respectively. The underwriting profit in 2012 was primarily due to the release of allowances for reinsurance bad debt related to discontinued
lines of business originally written by Markel International.
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Premiums and Net Retentions

The following tables summarize gross premium volume, net written premiums and earned premiums by segment.

Gross Premium Volume
Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Excess and Surplus Lines $ 244306 $ 222,929
Specialty Admitted 203,276 148,122
London Insurance Market 295,697 277,566
Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) 21 1
Total $ 743300 $ 648,618

Gross premium volume for the three months ended March 31, 2013 increased 15% compared to the same period of 2012. The increase in gross premium
volume in the first quarter of 2013 was driven by a 37% increase in gross premium volume from the Specialty Admitted segment. In 2013, the Specialty
Admitted segment included $32.2 million of gross written premiums from Hagerty, which we began writing in the first quarter of 2013. Gross premium
volume in the Specialty Admitted segment also included $31.0 million of gross premium volume attributable to Thomco, compared to $0.6 million in the first
quarter of 2012. Additionally, gross premium volume for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 in our Excess and Surplus Lines and London Insurance Market
segments increased 10% and 7%, respectively. Foreign currency exchange rate movements did not have a significant impact on gross premium volume for the
first quarter of 2013.

During 2012, we saw mid-single digit favorable rate changes across our portfolio as market conditions improved and revenues, gross receipts and payrolls of
our insureds were favorably impacted by improved economic conditions. We have continued to see modest price increases across many of our product lines
during the first quarter of 2013 and will continue to pursue price increases when possible; however, when we believe the prevailing market price will not
support our underwriting profit targets, the business is not written. As a result of our underwriting discipline, gross premium volume may vary when we alter
our product offerings to maintain or improve underwriting profitability.

Net Written Premiums
Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Excess and Surplus Lines $ 209,842 $ 192,913
Specialty Admitted 193,082 140,552
London Insurance Market 260,043 247,700
Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) 21 1
Total $ 662,988 $ 581,166

Net retention of gross premium volume for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was 89% compared to 90% for the same period of 2012.

As part of our underwriting philosophy, we seek to offer products with limits that do not require significant amounts of reinsurance. We purchase reinsurance
in order to reduce our retention on individual risks and enable us to write policies with sufficient limits to meet policyholder needs.
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Earned Premiums
Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Excess and Surplus Lines $ 201,405 $ 199,378
Specialty Admitted 158,469 133,475
London Insurance Market 204,692 196,742
Other Insurance (Discontinued Lines) 21 1
Total $ 564,587 $ 529,596

Earned premiums for the three months ended March 31, 2013 increased 7% compared to the same period of 2012. The increase in earned premiums for the
first quarter of 2013 was driven by a 19% increase in earned premiums from the Specialty Admitted segment. In 2013, the Specialty Admitted segment
included $20.5 million and $4.0 million of earned premiums attributable to Thomco and Hagerty, respectively, with no corresponding premiums in 2012.
Foreign currency exchange rate movements did not have a significant impact on earned premiums for the first quarter of 2013.

Investing Results

Net investment income for the three months ended March 31, 2013 was $64.6 million compared to $79.8 million for the same period of 2012. Net investment
income included favorable changes in the fair value of our credit default swap of $3.3 million and $11.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively. The fair value of our credit default swap is driven by observable and unobservable inputs as discussed in note 7 of our consolidated
financial statements. During 2012, financial markets improved and credit spreads narrowed, which favorably impacted the fair value of the credit default
swap. Changes in the fair value of this derivative instrument could be significant prior to its scheduled termination date of December 2014. Net investment
income for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 also decreased compared to the same period of 2012 due in part to a decrease in our holdings of fixed maturities
and increase in holdings of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Net realized investment gains for the first quarter of 2013 were $17.9 million compared to $11.9 million for the first quarter of 2012. There were no write
downs for other-than-temporary declines in the estimated fair value of investments for the quarters ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.

We complete a detailed analysis each quarter to assess whether the decline in the fair value of any investment below its cost basis is deemed other-than-
temporary. At March 31, 2013, we held securities with gross unrealized losses of $10.9 million, or less than 1% of invested assets. All securities with
unrealized losses were reviewed, and we believe that there were no securities with indications of declines in estimated fair value that were other-than-temporary
at March 31, 2013. However, given the volatility in the debt and equity markets, we caution readers that further declines in fair value could be significant and
may result in additional other-than-temporary impairment charges in future periods. Variability in the timing of realized and unrealized gains and losses is to
be expected.

Non-Insurance Operations (Markel Ventures)

We consolidate our non-insurance operations on a one-month lag. Operating revenues and expenses associated with our non-insurance operations are included
in other revenues and other expenses in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income. Revenues for our non-insurance operations were
$161.5 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to $97.0 million for the same period of 2012. Net income to shareholders from our non-
insurance operations was $3.6 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to $0.2 million for the same period of 2012. EBITDA from our non-
insurance operations was $19.4 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 compared to $9.4 million for the same period of 2012. Revenues, net income to
shareholders and EBITDA from our non-insurance operations increased in the first quarter of 2013 compared to the same period of 2012 primarily due to
more favorable results at AMF Bakery Systems and our acquisition of Haveco WP LLC in April 2012.
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Markel Ventures EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and reflects income attributable to our ownership interest in Markel Ventures before interest,
income taxes, depreciation and amortization. We use Markel Ventures EBITDA as an operating performance measure in conjunction with U.S. GAAP
measures, including revenues and net income, to monitor and evaluate the performance of our non-insurance operations. Because EBITDA excludes interest,
income taxes, depreciation and amortization, it provides an indicator of economic performance that is useful to both management and investors in evaluating
our non-insurance businesses as it is not affected by levels of debt, interest rates, effective tax rates or levels of depreciation and amortization resulting from
purchase accounting. The following table reconciles EBITDA of Markel Ventures to consolidated net income to shareholders.

Three Months Ended March 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2013 2012

Markel Ventures EBITDA $ 19,360 $ 9,417
Interest expense (2,482) (2,517)
Income tax expense (4,297) (199)
Depreciation expense 4,678) (2,633)
Amortization of intangible assets (4,259) (3,892)

Markel Ventures net income 3,644 176

Net income from other Markel operations 85,258 57,077

Net Income to Shareholders $ 88,902 $ 57,253

Interest expense for the quarters ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 includes intercompany interest expense of $1.6 million.

Interest Expense and Income Taxes

Interest expense was $23.6 million and $22.2 million for the quarters ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The increase in interest expense for 2013
is primarily due to the July 2012 issuance of our 4.90% unsecured senior notes.

The estimated annual effective tax rate was 24% and 23% for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. For both periods, the estimated
annual effective tax rate differs from the statutory tax rate of 35% primarily as a result of tax-exempt investment income. The increase in the estimated annual
effective tax rate was primarily due to anticipating a smaller tax benefit related to tax-exempt investment income, which resulted from having higher estimated
income before income taxes in 2013 compared to 2012.

Comprehensive Income to Shareholders

Comprehensive income to shareholders was $257.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to $205.9 million for the same period of
2012. Comprehensive income to shareholders for the first quarter of 2013 included an increase in net unrealized gains on investments, net of taxes, of $169.6
million and net income to shareholders of $88.9 million. Comprehensive income to shareholders for the first quarter of 2012 included an increase in net
unrealized gains on investments, net of taxes, of $145.4 million and net income to shareholders of $57.3 million.

Financial Condition

Invested assets were $9.8 billion at March 31, 2013 compared to $9.3 billion at December 31, 2012. Net unrealized gains on investments, net of taxes, were
$1.1 billion at March 31, 2013 compared to $946.9 million at December 31, 2012. Equity securities were $2.7 billion, or 28% of invested assets, at
March 31, 2013 compared to $2.4 billion, or 26% of invested assets, at December 31, 2012.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $55.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to net cash used by operating activities of
$64.4 million for the same period of 2012. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities during the first quarter of 2013 was driven by higher cash
flows from underwriting activities as a result of increased premium volume, primarily in our Specialty Admitted segment, and decreased claims settlement
activity compared to the first quarter of 2012. Additionally, the three months ended March 31, 2013 included higher cash flows from our non-insurance
operations, partially offset by higher profit sharing payments compared to the same period of 2012. Operating cash flows in the first quarter of both 2013 and
2012 were significantly impacted by the timing of employee profit sharing and agent incentive compensation payments and pension contributions, which were
made in the first quarter of each year.
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Net cash used by investing activities was $353.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to $30.7 million for the same period of 2012.
During 2013, we increased our holdings of short-term investments and reduced our holdings of fixed maturities, earning lower investment yields. Due to the
current low interest rate environment, we have chosen to take a more defensive posture in order to maintain a high level of liquidity and have flexibility in how
we allocate capital. Cash flow from investing activities is affected by various factors such as anticipated payment of claims, financing activity, acquisition
opportunities and individual buy and sell decisions made in the normal course of our investment portfolio management.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $231.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to $9.1 million for the same period of
2012. On March 8, 2013, the Company issued $250 million of 3.625% unsecured senior notes due March 30, 2023 and $250 million of 5.0% unsecured
senior notes due March 30, 2043. Net proceeds to the Company were approximately $491.2 million. On February 15, 2013, we repaid our 6.80% unsecured
senior notes, which had an outstanding principal balance of $246.7 million.

We seek to maintain prudent levels of liquidity and financial leverage for the protection of our policyholders, creditors and shareholders. Our target capital
structure includes approximately 30% debt. Our debt to capital ratio was 29% at March 31, 2013 and 28% at December 31, 2012. From time to time, our debt
to capital ratio may increase due to business opportunities that may be financed in the short term with debt. Alternatively, our debt to capital ratio may fall
below our target capital structure, which provides us with additional borrowing capacity to respond when future opportunities arise.

On December 18, 2012, our board of directors and the board of directors of Alterra Capital Holdings Limited (Alterra) each approved an agreement providing
for the merger of Alterra with one of our subsidiaries. As a result of the transaction, Alterra will become our wholly-owned subsidiary and each issued and
outstanding share of Alterra common stock (other than restricted shares that do not vest in connection with the transaction) will be converted into the right to
receive (1) 0.04315 shares of our common stock and (2) $10.00 in cash. Based on our closing stock price on December 18, 2012 ($486.05 per share), the day
the agreement was entered into, the aggregate consideration payable to Alterra shareholders would be approximately $3.1 billion, which includes aggregate cash
payments of approximately $1.0 billion. It is a condition of closing that Alterra have no less than $500 million in immediately available unrestricted funds. We
anticipate using these funds, along with cash on hand at Markel Corporation, to make the payments to shareholders. Following the transaction, we estimate
that our current shareholders would own approximately 69% of the combined company and Alterra shareholders would own approximately 31%. The
transaction has been approved by shareholders of both companies. Closing is expected to occur on May 1, 2013.

We have access to various capital sources, including dividends from certain of our insurance subsidiaries, holding company invested assets, undrawn
capacity under our revolving credit facility and access to the debt and equity capital markets. We believe that we have sufficient liquidity to meet our capital
needs.

Our holding company had $1.6 billion and $1.4 billion of invested assets at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The increase in invested
assets is primarily the result of our March 2013 issuance of 3.625% and 5.0% unsecured senior notes, partially offset by the repayment of our 6.80%
unsecured senior notes in February 2013, as discussed above.

Shareholders' equity was $4.2 billion at March 31, 2013 and $3.9 billion at December 31, 2012. Book value per share increased to $431.10 at March 31,
2013 from $403.85 at December 31, 2012 primarily due to $257.7 million of comprehensive income to shareholders in the first quarter of 2013.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of economic losses due to adverse changes in the estimated fair value of a financial instrument as the result of changes in equity prices,
interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices. Our consolidated balance sheets include assets and liabilities with estimated fair values
that are subject to market risk. Historically, our primary market risks have been equity price risk associated with investments in equity securities, interest
rate risk associated with investments in fixed maturities and foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with our international operations. We have no
material commodity risk.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, there were no material changes to the market risk components described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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General concern has existed since the later half of 2010 about the number of municipalities experiencing financial difficulties in light of the adverse economic
conditions experienced over the past several years. We manage the exposure to credit risk in our municipal bond portfolio by investing in high quality
securities and by diversifying our holdings, which are typically general obligation or revenue bonds related to essential products and services.

We monitor our portfolio to ensure that credit risk does not exceed prudent levels. We have consistently invested in high credit quality, investment grade
securities. Our fixed maturity portfolio has an average rating of “AA,” with approximately 94% rated “A” or better by at least one nationally recognized rating
organization. Our policy is to invest in investment grade securities and to minimize investments in fixed maturities that are unrated or rated below investment
grade. At March 31, 2013, less than 1% of our fixed maturity portfolio was unrated or rated below investment grade. While our fixed maturity portfolio
includes securities issued with financial guaranty insurance, we purchase fixed maturities based on our assessment of the credit quality of the underlying
assets without regard to insurance.

Our fixed maturity portfolio includes securities issued by foreign governments. General concern exists about the financial difficulties facing certain European
countries in light of the adverse economic conditions experienced over the past several years. We monitor developments in foreign countries, currencies and
issuers that could pose risks to our fixed maturity portfolio, including rating downgrades, political and financial changes and the widening of credit spreads.
We believe our fixed maturity portfolio is highly diversified and is comprised of high quality securities. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, there
were no material changes in the foreign exposures included in our fixed maturity portfolio.

The estimated fair value of our investment portfolio at March 31, 2013 was $9.8 billion, 72% of which was invested in fixed maturities, short-term
investments and cash and cash equivalents and 28% of which was invested in equity securities. At December 31, 2012, the estimated fair value of our
investment portfolio was $9.3 billion, 74% of which was invested in fixed maturities, short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents and 26% of
which was invested in equity securities.

Our fixed maturities, equity securities and short-term investments are recorded at fair value, which is measured based upon quoted prices in active markets, if
available. We determine fair value for these investments after considering various sources of information, including information provided by a third party
pricing service. The pricing service provides prices for substantially all of our fixed maturities and equity securities. In determining fair value, we generally do
not adjust the prices obtained from the pricing service. We obtain an understanding of the pricing service's valuation methodologies and related inputs, which
include, but are not limited to, reported trades, benchmark yields, issuer spreads, bids, offers, duration, credit ratings, estimated cash flows and prepayment
speeds. We validate prices provided by the pricing service by reviewing prices from other pricing sources and analyzing pricing data in certain instances.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 (Disclosure Controls). This evaluation was conducted under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO).

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of
a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have
been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of
simple error or mistake. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there
can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Based upon our controls evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that effective Disclosure Controls were in place to ensure that the information required to be
disclosed in reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods

specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the first quarter of 2013 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Safe Harbor and Cautionary Statement

This report contains statements concerning or incorporating our expectations, assumptions, plans, objectives, future financial or operating performance and
other statements that are not historical facts. These statements are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995.

There are risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from predicted results in forward-looking statements. Factors that may
cause actual results to differ are often presented with the forward-looking statements themselves. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ
from those predicted are set forth under “Risk Factors” and “Safe Harbor and Cautionary Statement” in our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K or are
included in the items listed below:

*  our anticipated premium volume is based on current knowledge and assumes no significant man-made or natural catastrophes, no significant changes in
products or personnel and no adverse changes in market conditions;

» the effect of cyclical trends, including demand and pricing in the insurance and reinsurance markets;

* actions by competitors, including consolidation, and the effect of competition on market trends and pricing;

*  we offer insurance coverage against terrorist acts in connection with some of our programs, and in other instances we are legally required to offer terrorism
insurance; in both circumstances, we actively manage our exposure, but if there is a covered terrorist attack, we could sustain material losses;

» the impact of the events of September 11, 2001 will depend on the resolution of on-going insurance coverage litigation and arbitrations;

»  the frequency and severity of man-made and natural catastrophes (including earthquakes and weather-related catastrophes) may exceed expectations, are
unpredictable and, in the case of weather-related catastrophes, may be exacerbated if, as many forecast, conditions in the oceans and atmosphere result in
increased hurricane or other adverse weather-related activity;

»  changing legal and social trends and inherent uncertainties (including but not limited to those uncertainties associated with our asbestos and environmental
reserves) in the loss estimation process can adversely impact the adequacy of loss reserves and the allowance for reinsurance recoverables;

* adverse developments in insurance coverage litigation or other legal or administrative proceedings could result in material increases in our estimates of loss
reserves;

* the failure of any loss limitation methods employed,;
»  changes in the availability, costs and quality of reinsurance coverage which may impact our ability to write certain lines of business;
* industry and economic conditions can affect the ability and/or willingness of reinsurers to pay balances due;

» after the commutation of ceded reinsurance contracts, any subsequent adverse development in the re-assumed loss reserves will result in a charge to
earnings;

» regulatory actions can impede our ability to charge adequate rates and efficiently allocate capital;

*  economic conditions, actual or potential defaults in sovereign debt obligations, volatility in interest and foreign currency exchange rates and changes in
market value of concentrated investments can have a significant impact on the fair value of fixed maturities and equity securities, as well as the carrying
value of other assets and liabilities, and this impact may be heightened by market volatility;

*  economic conditions, changes in government support for education, healthcare and infrastructure projects and foreign currency exchange rates, among
other factors, may adversely affect the markets served by our non-insurance operations and negatively impact their revenues and profitability;

*  economic conditions may adversely affect access to capital and credit markets;
*  we have substantial investments in municipal bonds (approximately $2.8 billion at March 31, 2013) and, although no more than 10% of our municipal

bond portfolio is tied to any one state, widespread defaults could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition;
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*  we cannot predict the extent and duration of the current period of slow economic growth; the effects of government actions to address the U.S. federal
deficit and debt ceiling issues; the continuing effects of government intervention into the markets to address the financial crisis of 2008 and 2009
(including, among other things, the effects of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and regulations adopted thereunder); the
outcome of economic and currency concerns in the Eurozone; and their combined impact on our industry, business and investment portfolio;

*  we cannot predict the impact of U.S. health care reform legislation and regulations under that legislation on our business;

*  our business is dependent upon the successful functioning and security of our computer systems; if our information technology systems fail or suffer a
security breach, our business or reputation could be adversely impacted;

*  we have recently completed a number of acquisitions and may engage in additional acquisition activity in the future, which may increase operational and
control risks for a period of time;

» the failure to complete the acquisition of Alterra announced on December 19, 2012;

»  if'the agreement to acquire Alterra is terminated before November 1, 2013 or if the Alterra acquisition does not occur on or before November 1, 2013, we
will be obligated to redeem our $250 million 3.625% senior notes due 2023 and our $250 million 5.0% senior notes due 2043;

» the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to our acquisition of Alterra may exceed our expectations;
*  we may not realize the contemplated benefits, including cost savings and synergies, of our acquisition of Alterra;

*  any determination requiring the write-off of a significant portion of the goodwill and intangible assets (estimated at $640.2 million based on our
preliminary valuations at December 31, 2012 using a Markel stock price of $492.16) recorded in connection with the acquisition of Alterra;

*  we may have difficulties retaining all business previously written by us and Alterra following our acquisition of Alterra;

* loss of services of any executive officers or other key personnel in conjunction with our acquisition of Alterra or otherwise could impact our operations;
and

» adverse changes in our assigned financial strength or debt ratings as a result of our acquisition of Alterra or otherwise could impact our ability to attract
and retain business or obtain capital.

Our premium volume, underwriting and investment results and results from our non-insurance operations have been and will continue to be potentially
materially affected by these factors. By making forward-looking statements, we do not intend to become obligated to publicly update or revise any such
statements whether as a result of new information, future events or other changes. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements which speak only as at their dates.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits

See Exhibit Index for a list of exhibits filed as part of this report.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, this 30t day of April 2013.

Markel Corporation

By: /s/ Alan L. Kirshner

Alan 1. Kirshner
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors

By: /s/ Anne G. Waleski

Anne G. Waleski
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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322
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Exhibit Index

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 18, 2012, by and among Alterra Capital Holdings Limited, Markel Corporation and
Commonwealth Merger Subsidiary Limited (2.1)a

Waiver Agreement dated as of April 22, 2013 by and among Alterra Capital Holdings Limited, Markel Corporation and Commonwealth
Merger Subsidiary Limited (2.1)b

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (3.1)c
Bylaws, as amended (3.1)d

Form of Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 23, 2011 among Markel Corporation, the lenders party thereto and
SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent (4.1)e

Form of Consent dated as of June 25, 2012 regarding Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 23, 2011 among
Markel Corporation, the lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent (4.2)f

Form of First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 28, 2013 among Markel Corporation, the
lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent*

Indenture dated as of June 5, 2001, between Markel Corporation and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee (4.1)g

Form of Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 25, 2003 between Markel Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly
known as The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.1)h

Form of Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 13, 2004 between Markel Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly
known as The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.2)i

Form of Fifth Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 22, 2009 between Markel Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon
(as successor to The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.2)j

Form of Sixth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 1, 2011 between Markel Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon (as
successor to The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.2)k

Form of Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 2, 2012 between Markel Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon (as
successor to The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.2)1

Form of Eighth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 8, 2013 between Markel Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon (as
successor to The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.2)m

Form of Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 8, 2013 between Markel Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon (as
successor to The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee, including form of the securities as Exhibit A (4.3)m

The registrant hereby agrees to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission a copy of all instruments defining the rights of holders
of long-term debt of the registrant’s subsidiaries shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheet of the registrant at March 31, 2013 and the
respective Notes thereto, included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Description of Awards under Executive Bonus Plan and 2012 Equity Compensation Plan for 2013*
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350*
Certification of Principal Financial Officer furnished Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350*

The following consolidated financial statements from Markel Corporation’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31,2013, filed on April 30, 2013, formatted in XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.*
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Exhibit 4.3

FORM OF FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment”) is dated as of February 28, 2013 by
and among MARKEL CORPORATION, a Virginia corporation (the “Borrower”), the banks and financial institutions listed on the signature pages hereto and
SUNTRUST BANK, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “ Administrative Agent”).

WHEREAS, the Borrower entered into that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 23, 2011 (the *“ Credit Agreement”)
among the Borrower, the lenders party thereto (the “Lenders”) and the Administrative Agent;

WHEREAS, the Borrower, Alterra Capital Holdings Limited, a Bermuda exempted limited liability company (“ Alterra”) and Commonwealth Merger
Subsidiary Limited, a Bermuda exempted company and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Borrower (the “ Merger Sub”) entered into Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated as of December 18, 2012 (the “Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties thereto intend that the Merger Sub will be merged with and into
Alterra with Alterra surviving such merger on the terms and conditions therein; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders and the
Administrative Agent amend certain provisions of the Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions contained herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged by the parties, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. Except as otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement.
Section 2. Amendments to Credit Agreement .
(a) Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new definitions thereto:

“Alterra Guaranty” shall mean any guaranty obligations of the Borrower in favor of the holders from time to time of the Alterra Notes, so long as
such obligations are permitted to be incurred pursuant to Section 7.1(ii) of this Agreement.

“Alterra Notes” shall mean (i) those certain 6.25% senior notes issued by Alterra Finance LLC, due September 30, 2020, in the initial principal
amount of US$350,000,000 and (ii) those certain 7.20% senior notes issued by Alterra USA Holdings Limited, due April 14, 2017, in the initial
principal amount of US$100,000,000.



“Increased Leverage Period” shall mean the period from and including March 5, 2013 until the earlier of: (i) ten Business Days after
termination of the Merger Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 thereof, (ii) November 18, 2013 and (iii) the Merger Closing Date.

“Merger Agreement” shall mean that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 18, 2012 (including the exhibits thereto),
among the Borrower, Alterra Capital Holdings Limited, a Bermuda exempted limited liability company and Commonwealth Merger Subsidiary Limited, a
Bermuda exempted company and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Borrower, as the same may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time in
accordance with its terms.

“Merger Closing Date” shall mean the “Closing Date” as defined in the Merger Agreement.
(b) Section 6.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such Section in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the following:

“6.1 Leverage Ratio. The Borrower will not permit the Leverage Ratio as of any date after the Closing Date to be greater than 0.375 to 1.00,
provided, however, that during the Increased Leverage Period only, in lieu of the foregoing, the Borrower will not permit the Leverage Ratio to be greater
than 0.425 to 1.00.”

(c) Section 7.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting clause (v) of such Section in its entirety and substituting in lieu thereof the
following:

“(v) Indebtedness of any Subsidiary outstanding at the time such Subsidiary becomes a Subsidiary and not incurred in contemplation thereof,
provided (x) the Indebtedness remains the sole obligation of such Subsidiary and (y) the outstanding aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness is
not voluntarily increased by such Subsidiary after the date such Subsidiary becomes a Subsidiary of the Borrower; provided further, that the incurrence
or making by the Borrower of any Alterra Guaranty on or after the Merger Closing Date shall be permitted notwithstanding clause (x) immediately above;”

Section 3. Representations and Warranties. As a condition to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders entering into this Amendment, the Borrower hereby
represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that:

(a) Authorization. The Borrower has the right and power, and has taken all necessary action to authorize it, to execute and deliver this Amendment
and to perform its obligations hereunder and under the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, and the other Credit Documents to which it is a
party in accordance with their respective terms. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer of the Borrower and each
of this Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the
Borrower in accordance with its respective terms.



(b) Compliance with Laws. The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by the Borrower of this Amendment
and the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, in accordance with their respective terms, do not and will not, by the passage of time, the giving of
notice or otherwise: (i) require any consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any action by, any Governmental Authority and will not violate any
applicable law or regulation or the bylaws of the Borrower, the certificate of incorporation of the Borrower, or other organizational documents of the Borrower
or any order of any Governmental Authority; (ii) violate or result in a default under any indenture, material agreement or other material instrument binding on
the Borrower or any of its assets or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by the Borrower; or (iii) result in the creation or imposition
of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower.

(c) Reaffirmation. As of the date of this Amendment and after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and warranties set forth in the
Credit Documents are true and correct in all material respects (except for those representations and warranties that are already qualified by materiality or
Material Adverse Effect, which shall be true and correct in all respects), except that any representations or warranties that are made as of a specific earlier date,
in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date; and

(d) No Default. As of the date hereof and after giving effect to this Amendment, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
Section 4. Payment of Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent for its reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Amendment and the other documents and agreements executed and

delivered in connection herewith.

Section 5. Conditions. The effectiveness of this Amendment (including the amendments contained in Section 2 hereof) is subject to the satisfaction of
each of the following conditions precedent:

(a) the Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have received a counterpart of this Amendment duly executed by the Borrower, the Required Lenders
and the Administrative Agent; and

(b) the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3 shall be true and correct.

Section 6. Effect; Ratification.

(a) Except as expressly herein amended, the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents remain unchanged and
continue to be in full force and effect. The amendments contained herein shall be deemed to have prospective application only, unless otherwise specifically
stated herein. The Credit Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. Each reference to the Credit Agreement in any of the Credit Documents
(including the Credit Agreement) shall be deemed to be a reference to the Credit Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.



(b) Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of compliance with any term or condition contained in the Credit Agreement or any
of the other Credit Documents, or constitute a course of conduct or dealing among the parties. The Administrative Agent and the Lenders reserve all rights,
privileges and remedies under the Credit Documents.

(©] This Amendment constitutes the entire agreement and understanding among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. This Amendment shall for all purposes be
deemed to be a “Credit Document” under the Credit Agreement and entitled to the benefits thereof.

Section 7. Binding Effect. This Amendment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective permitted
successors and assigns.

Section 8. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and shall be
binding upon all parties, their successors and assigns. The exchange of copies of this Amendment and of signature pages by facsimile or .pdf via email
transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Amendment as to the parties.

Section 9. Severability; Headings. Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability, without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition
or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The section and subsection
headings used in this Amendment are for convenience of reference only and are not to affect the construction hereof or to be taken into consideration in the
interpretation hereof.

Section 10. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS
AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to be duly executed by their
respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

MARKEL CORPORATION

By:

Anne Waleski
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

SUNTRUST BANK, as Administrative Agent and as a Lender
By:

Authorized Officer

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION

By:

Authorized Officer

BARCLAYS BANK PLC
By:

Authorized Officer

BRANCH BANKING & TRUST COMPANY
By:

Authorized Officer

CITIBANK, N.A.
By:

Authorized Officer

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY
By:

Authorized Officer



Exhibit 10.1

Description of Awards under Executive Bonus Plan and
2012 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan for 2013

Markel Corporation (the “Company”) has an incentive compensation program for executive officers that generally consists of two elements-cash incentive
compensation paid under the Executive Bonus Plan and restricted stock units issued under the 2012 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan. All executive
officers (Alan I. Kirshner, Anthony F. Markel, Steven A. Markel, F. Michael Crowley, Thomas S. Gayner, Richard R. Whitt, 111, Gerard Albanese, Jr.,
Bradley J. Kiscaden, Britton L. Glisson, and Anne G. Waleski) participate in the Executive Bonus Plan. All executive officers except for Anthony F. Markel
and Steven A. Markel participate in the 2012 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan.

Awards are subject to the achievement of pre-established performance goals and are administered to comply with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Performance goals for 2013 relate to growth in book value and, in the case of Mr. Albanese, also include underwriting combined ratio
and revenue growth. For all executive officers, the measurement period for the growth in book value goal is five years.

The Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors sets the amounts payable under each performance award. The employee receives the
appropriate payment at the end of the performance period if the performance goals and other terms and conditions of the award are met. Awards under the
Executive Bonus Plan are payable in cash and under the 2012 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, in restricted stock units. Any performance award must be
made before the 90t day of the period for which the performance award relates and before the completion of 25% of such period.

Growth in book value targets are similar to prior years, except that all transaction-related, non-recurring changes in book value arising from the Alterra
acquisition will be excluded in making the calculations. For example, incremental increases in book value as a result of the transaction will be excluded, as
will expenses (e.g., professional fees, change in control compensation, severance costs) resulting directly from the transaction. Underwriting-based targets are
based on a grid measuring underwriting performance and revenue growth for the business operations for which the executive officer has direct responsibility.



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

I, Alan I. Kirshner, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Markel Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

April 30,2013 /s/ Alan 1. Kirshner

Alan 1. Kirshner
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

I, Anne G. Waleski, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Markel Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

April 30,2013 /s/ Anne G. Waleski

Anne G. Waleski
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
FURNISHED PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Markel Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2013 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Alan I. Kirshner, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Alan I. Kirshner

Alan I. Kirshner

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
April 30,2013




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
FURNISHED PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Markel Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2013 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Anne G. Waleski, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Anne G. Waleski

Anne G. Waleski

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
April 30,2013







